INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Bella Acharya is attempting to sue Microsoft Corporation 

in Washington State for discriminatory treatment that she allegedly 

suffered while working for a Swiss corporation in Europe. Before she 

moved to Europe to accept that job, she signed an employment contract in 

which she and her employer agreed to resolve any employment-related 

disputes in Swiss courts. She does not contend that her contract was 

invalid, but now, apparently regretting the bargain she struck, she seeks to 

avoid enforcement of the forum-selection clause to which she agreed. 

The Superior Court denied Microsoft Corporation's motion to 

dismiss, and in doing so it erred in two respects. First, the court erred in 

refusing to give effect to the forum-selection clause in Acharya' s 

employment contract. Such clauses have long been entitled to a 

presumption of validity in Washington State, and a recent, unanimous 

decision of the United States Supreme Court instructs that they are entitled 

to "controlling weight in all but the most exceptional cases." Atl. Marine 

Constr. Co. v. Us. Dist. Courtfor W Dist. o/Tex., 134 S. Ct. 568, 581, 

187 L. Ed. 2d 487 (2013) (quoting Stewart Org., Inc. v. Ricoh Corp., 487 

U.S. 22, 33, 108 S. Ct. 2239, 101 L. Ed. 2d 22 (1988) (Kennedy, 1., 

concurring) ). 
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Acharya does not dispute that her claims are covered by the forum

selection clause in her contract, and she cannot overcome the presumption 

of validity to which that clause is entitled. Litigating in Switzerland may 

be less convenient for her now that she has moved back to the United 

States, but Washington courts have held that "inconvenience foreseeable 

by the parties at the time they entered the contract" is not a basis for 

refusing to enforce a forum-selection clause. Keystone Masonry, Inc. v. 

Garco Constr., Inc., 135 Wn. App. 927, 934, 147 P.3d 610 (2006). It is 

hardly unreasonable or unjust to agree that disputes arising from 

employment in Europe will be resolved in Europe. 

Second, even apart from the forum-selection clause, the Superior 

Court erred in failing to dismiss the case on the basis of forum non 

conveniens. Switzerland-a democratic country with an independent 

judiciary-is an adequate forum to resolve contract and tort claims arising 

from an employment relationship. And the balance of private and public 

interests overwhelmingly favors hearing Acharya's case in Switzerland. 

The events allegedly giving rise to her claims occurred in Europe, and the 

key witnesses are there, including Acharya's supervisor. The key 

documents (which Acharya has already requested in discovery) are also 

located in Europe, and their production will be governed by strict 

European data-privacy laws. For all of these reasons, this case would be 
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more efficiently tried in Switzerland. Conversely, Washington State has 

little or no interest in adjudicating a dispute involving an employee of a 

foreign corporation working in a foreign country. 

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Superior Court erred in denying Microsoft Corporation's 

motion to dismiss. 

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. Whether the Superior Court erred in refusing to enforce the 

forum-selection clause in Acharya's employment contract, when Acharya 

did not attempt to show that the contract containing that clause is 

unconscionable or otherwise invalid. 

2. Whether the Superior Court erred in denying Microsoft 

Corporation's motion to dismiss on forum non conveniens grounds, where 

the basis of Acharya's claim is discriminatory treatment she allegedly 

suffered while working for a Swiss corporation in the United Kingdom. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Until 2008, Acharya worked as an advertising sales manager for 

Microsoft Corporation in Redmond, Washington. (CP 79) In that year, she 

developed the idea of leading her own international sales team. (CP 79, 

145, 162) To that end, she voluntarily resigned her employment with 

Microsoft Corporation and accepted ajob in the United Kingdom, where 
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she was employed as an International Sales Manager by Microsoft Global 

Resources GmbH (MGR), a Swiss company. (CP 80) MGR assigned 

Acharya to work in the UK for Microsoft Ltd., a British company. (CP 80) 

Before resigning her Microsoft Corporation employment and 

accepting the job with MGR in Europe, Acharya signed an employment 

contract with MGR. (CP 187-93) That contract was seven pages long, and 

Acharya reviewed it for a month before she signed. (ld.) It contained a 

choice-of-Iaw provision specifying that the agreement is to be "governed 

in all respects by the laws of Switzerland." (CP 192) It also contained a 

forum-selection clause requiring the resolution of all disputes in Swiss 

courts. (ld.) That clause, identified by the boldface heading "Place of 

Jurisdiction" in the margin, stated: "Any dispute, controversy or claim 

arising under, out of or in relation to this Employment Agreement, its 

valid conclusion, binding effects, interpretation, including tort claims, 

shall be referred and finally determined by the ordinary courts at the 

domicile ofMGR in Switzerland." (ld.) 

The agreement contained an integration clause specifying that the 

contract reflects "the complete agreement between the parties," except that 

the "International Offer Letter of Assignment" constitutes "an integral 

part" of the agreement. (CP 191-92) That letter informed Acharya that her 

employment was "anticipated to be for two years," and that "[t]hroughout 
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the term of this agreement, you will remain an employee ofMGR." (CP 

195) The letter further stated that, upon the conclusion of the assignment, 

"[t]here is no guarantee that you will obtain another assignment with 

MGR or a new position with another Microsoft affiliate." (CP 197) 

Acharya extended her MGR contract several times, and she 

worked for MGR in Europe until 2012. (CP 81) While at MGR, she held a 

highly compensated managerial position. (CP 182) Shortly before her 

MGR employment concluded, she applied for several jobs with Microsoft 

Corporation in the United States, but she was not hired for any of those 

positions. (CP 80) 

In July 2013, Acharya brought this lawsuit against Microsoft 

Corporation, alleging that it had violated the Washington Law Against 

Discrimination (WLAD), Chapter 49.60 RCW. (CP 1-22) Specifically, she 

alleged that her London-based manager, Olivier van Duiiren, who is 

assigned to work for Microsoft Ltd. in the United Kingdom, gave her 

unfairly low performance evaluations in 2011 and 2012 on account of her 

sex and age. (CP 5-12) 

Acharya contended that van Duiiren's supervisors, some of whom 

were based in Redmond, had failed to supervise him adequately or to 

monitor his activities, and that investigators employed by Microsoft 

Corporation had failed to conduct an adequate investigation of her 
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complaints. (CP 10-11) She did not allege, however, that any of those 

Microsoft Corporation employees themselves engaged in any 

discriminatory or retaliatory conduct. She also did not allege that 

Microsoft Corporation's failure to hire her in 2012 was based on 

discrimination or retaliation. Instead, she asserted that "there was virtually 

no chance that she was going to be able to find a suitable position" at 

Microsoft Corporation because van Duiiren had "poison[ ed] the well." 

(CP 11) 

Microsoft Corporation moved to dismiss the lawsuit without 

prejudice so that Acharya could litigate in Switzerland. (CP 71-99) It 

offered two independent grounds for dismissal: the forum-selection clause 

and the doctrine of forum non conveniens. (CP 85-97) Acharya opposed 

the motion. (CP 248-78) 

On the day that briefing on the motion was completed, the United 

States Supreme Court decided Atlantic Marine, holding unanimously that 

"a valid forum-selection clause [ should be] given controlling weight in all 

but the most exceptional cases." 134 S. Ct. at 581 (quoting Stewart Org., 

487 U.S. at 33 (Kennedy, J., concurring)) (brackets in original). Microsoft 

Corporation promptly filed a notice of supplemental authority with the 

Superior Court. (CP 710-11) 
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On December 6, 2013, the Superior Court held a hearing on the 

motion to dismiss. Later that day, it entered an order denying the motion 

without opinion. (CP 733-35) Microsoft Corporation filed a timely notice 

of discretionary review. (CP 746-47) 

This Court granted discretionary review. Noting that a "forum 

selection clause is presumed valid and enforceable, and Acharya had a 

heavy burden of proving otherwise," the Commissioner observed that the 

Superior Court "made no finding or conclusion to explain why the clause 

is not enforceable." 4/3/14 Ruling Granting Discretionary Review 9. The 

opinion noted that "[t]he trial court's decision appears to be in error." ld. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A trial court's decision on the enforceability of a forum-selection 

clause is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Dix v. lCT Grp., Inc., 160 

Wn.2d 826,833, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). A decision whether to dismiss on 

the basis of forum non conveniens is also reviewed for abuse of discretion. 

Lisby v. PACCAR, Inc., 178 Wn. App. 516,521,316 P.3d 1097 (2013). A 

trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is based on an incorrect view 

of the law. Dix, 160 Wn.2d at 833; Lisby, 178 Wn. App. at 521. 
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ARGUMENT 

A. The Superior Court erred in refusing to give effect to the 
forum-selection clause in Acharya's employment contract 

1. A forum-selection clause contained in a valid contract 
must be given effect in all but the most exceptional cases 

When the parties to a contract have agreed to resolve disputes in a 

particular forum, enforcing the terms of their bargain furthers important 

public policy goals by "serv[ing] the salutary purpose of enhancing 

contractual predictability." Voicelink Data Servs., Inc. v. Datapulse, Inc., 

86 Wn. App. 613,617,937 P.2d 1158 (1997). When the specified forum is 

in a foreign country, enforcing the agreement also promotes international 

comity by respecting the integrity and competence of the foreign tribunal. 

Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 

629, 105 S. Ct. 3346, 87 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1985). For those reasons, the 

Washington Supreme Court has held that "[f]orum selection clauses are 

prima facie valid." Dix v. ICTGrp., Inc., 160 Wn.2d 826, 834,161 P.3d 

1016 (2007). 

Traditionally, Washington law has required the enforcement of 

forum-selection clauses unless they are "unreasonable and unjust." 

Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 617. The party challenging the enforceability of 

the clause has the burden of demonstrating its unreasonableness. Id.; Dix, 

160 Wn.2d at 834-35. A party cannot carry that burden simply by showing 
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that the forum is distant or inconvenient. Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 618; 

see MIS Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 15,92 S. Ct. 1907, 

32 L. Ed. 2d 513 (1972); Keystone Masonry, Inc., 135 Wn. App. at 934. 

Instead, the party "bears a heavy burden of showing that trial in the chosen 

forum would be so seriously inconvenient as to deprive the party of a 

meaningful day in court." Bank of Am., NA. v. Miller, 108 Wn. App. 745, 

748,33 P.3d 91 (2001). 

Last year, the United States Supreme Court revisited the 

enforceability of forum-selection clauses, and it held that the presumption 

in favor of enforcement is so strong as to be almost irrebuttable. In 

Atlantic Marine, the Court held-unanimously-that "a valid forum

selection clause [should be] given controlling weight in all but the most 

exceptional cases." 134 S. Ct. at 581 (quoting Stewart Org., 487 U.S. at 33 

(Kennedy, J., concurring)) (brackets in original). The Court explained that, 

when the parties have signed a "contractually valid forum selection 

clause," the "plaintiffs choice of forum merits no weight" because "the 

plaintiff has effectively exercised its 'venue privilege' before a dispute 

arises," and "[o]nly that initial choice deserves deference." Id. at 581 n.5, 

581-82. The Court also observed that a court deciding whether to enforce 

a forum-selection clause "should not consider arguments about the parties' 

private interests"-including arguments that the selected forum is 
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inconvenient-because, "[w]hen parties agree to a forum-selection clause, 

they waive the right to challenge the preselected forum as inconvenient or 

less convenient for themselves or their witnesses, or for their pursuit of the 

litigation." Id. at 582. Instead, a court "may consider arguments about 

public-interest factors only," and "those factors will rarely defeat" a 

motion to enforce a forum-selection clause. Id. 

The Court explained that enforcing forum-selection clauses serves 

important interests of predictability and protection of "parties' settled 

expectations." Atl. Marine, 134 S. Ct. at 583. As the Court observed, a 

forum-selection clause "may have figured centrally in the parties' 

negotiations and may have affected how they set monetary and other 

contractual terms; it may, in fact, have been a critical factor in their 

agreement to do business together in the first place." Id. For that reason, 

the Court concluded that "[i]n all but the most unusual cases, ... 'the 

interest of justice' is served by holding parties to their bargain." Id. 

The principles set out in Atlantic Marine are fully applicable to 

employment contracts. The Court described its holding as a general rule 

applicable to any "defendant in a civil case who seeks to enforce a forum 

selection clause." Atl. Marine, 134 S. Ct. at 575. And as the Ninth Circuit 

has observed, "[t]here is nothing in the case law ... to suggest that a 

different analysis applies to forum selection clauses in employment 
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contracts than generally applies to commercial contracts." Spradlin v. Lear 

Siegler Mgmt. Servs. Co., 926 F.2d 865,867 (9th Cir. 1991). Not 

surprisingly, in the short time since Atlantic Marine has been decided, 

courts have applied it to employment cases without suggesting that a 

different analysis would be required in that context. See, e.g., Monastiero 

v. appMobi, Inc., No. C 13-05711 SI, 2014 WL 1991564, at *5-6 (N.D. 

Cal. May 15, 2014 ) (enforcing forum-selection clause in employment 

agreement and dismissing employee's breach-of-contract claim); Longo v. 

FlightSafety Int'l, Inc., No. 12-CV-2413 (WFK) (LB), 2014 WL 880410, 

at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 6,2014) (enforcing forum-selection clause in 

employment agreement and dismissing employee's sex-discrimination 

claim). 

Atlantic Marine also applies whether the contractually selected 

forum is foreign or domestic. Although Atlantic Marine itself involved the 

enforcement by a federal district court of a forum-selection clause that 

required a transfer to a different district, the Court stated that "the same 

standards should apply to motions to dismiss for forum non conveniens in 

cases involving valid forum-selection clauses pointing to state or foreign 

forums." 134 S. Ct. at 583 n.8; see also id. at 580. 

Washington courts have generally followed federal law governing 

the enforcement of forum-selection clauses. Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 618 
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(noting that the Washington test "is consistent with the test set forth by the 

U.S. Supreme Court"); see Russell v. Dep 't of Human Rights, 70 Wn. App. 

408,415,854 P.2d 1087 (1993) (When a state law is similar to a parallel 

federal law, "Washington courts look to federal law" for guidance.). This 

Court should follow the reasoning of Atlantic Marine and hold that a party 

can avoid the enforcement of a contractually valid forum-selection clause 

only by demonstrating truly exceptional circumstances unrelated to the 

private interests of the parties. In any event, as explained below, the 

Superior Court's refusal to enforce the forum-selection clause in this case 

was also contrary to pre-Atlantic Marine case law because Acharya 

cannot show that the clause was unreasonable or unjust or that it would 

deprive her of a meaningful day in court-it was reasonable for the parties 

to agree that disputes arising from employment in Europe would be 

resolved in Europe, and the Swiss courts are available to hear Acharya's 

I · I Calms. 

I Washington courts treat a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause as 
a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(3). Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 624. In 
Atlantic Marine, the Supreme Court suggested that such a motion is more 
appropriately treated as a motion to dismiss on the basis of forum non 
conveniens. 134 S. Ct. at 577-580, 583 n.8. This Court need not resolve the issue 
in this case because dismissal is warranted regardless of how the motion is 
characterized. 
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2. Acharya's claims are covered by the forum-selection 
clause to which she agreed when she accepted 
employment with MGR 

In accepting employment with MGR in Europe, Acharya agreed to 

a forum-selection clause that applies to "[a]ny dispute, controversy or 

claim arising under, out of or in relation" to the contract and its 

"conclusion" or termination. (CP 192) The use of the word any before 

"dispute, controversy, or claim" confirms that the clause covers not just 

contract claims but also statutory and tort claims that "aris[ e] under, out of 

or in relation to" Acharya's MGR employment. (Id.) See Carnival Cruise 

Lines, Inc. v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 587, 111 S. Ct. 1522, 113 L. Ed. 2d 622 

(1991) (forum-selection clause applying to "all disputes and matters 

whatsoever arising under, in connection with or incident to" contract also 

applied to tort claims); see also United States v. Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1,5 

117 S. Ct. 1032, 137 L. Ed. 2d 132 (1997) ("Read naturally, the word 

'any' has an expansive meaning, that is, 'one or some indiscriminately of 

whatever kind. ''') (quoting Webster's Third New International Dictionary 

97 (1976)). It thus applies to all of Acharya's claims in this litigation. 

In opposing discretionary review, Acharya suggested that at least 

some of her claims are against Microsoft Corporation, not MGR. Answer 

to Mot. for Discretionary Review 12. To the extent that she meant to argue 

that those claims are not covered by the forum-selection clause, the 
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argument is not properly before this Court because Acharya never 

presented it to the Superior Court. See Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. 

App. 647, 660, 244 P.3d 425 (2010) (declining to consider an alternative 

ground for affirmance that was not raised below). 

In any event, the argument fails on the merits for two reasons. 

First, even if some of Acharya's claims were against Microsoft 

Corporation, they would still "arise[ e] under, out of, or in relation to" her 

MGR employment, which means that they would be covered by the 

forum-selection clause to which she agreed. (CP 192) Second, the facts 

alleged in the complaint do not state a claim for relief against Microsoft 

Corporation because Acharya was not employed by Microsoft Corporation 

at any time relevant to this case. Although Acharya unsuccessfully applied 

for a number of jobs at Microsoft Corporation in 2012, she does not allege 

that the decision not to hire her was a result of discrimination or retaliation 

by anyone at Microsoft Corporation. Indeed, she does not assel1 a failure

to-hire claim at all. Instead, she alleges that "there was virtually no chance 

that she was going to be able to find a suitable position" because van 

Dutiren had "poison[ ed] the well." (CP 11) For that reason, even if she had 

articulated a failure-to-hire claim against Microsoft Corporation, it would 

be derivative of her Europe-centered discrimination allegations. 
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Acharya contends that van Duuren's supervisors, some of whom 

were based in Redmond, did a poor job of supervising him and monitoring 

his activities, and that investigators employed by Microsoft Corporation 

failed to conduct an adequate investigation into her complaints. (CP lO

Il) She does not allege, however, that any of those Microsoft Corporation 

employees engaged in discriminatory or retaliatory conduct. Her 

allegations do not state claims under the WLAD, and they do not shift the 

locus of her claims from London to Redmond. The WLAD makes it 

unlawful "[t]o discriminate against any person in compensation or in other 

terms or conditions of employment" on account of a prohibited ground. 

RCW § 49.60.180(3). It does not make it unlawful to fail to prevent 

someone else from discriminating. Nor does the WLAD create a 

requirement that internal human-resources investigations be conducted to 

some particular standard or that they always reach the "correct" result. 

Acharya's "failure to prevent" and "inadequate investigation" claims are 

not claims under Washington law, and she cites no authority to the 

contrary. 

In an effort to avoid the reality that Microsoft Corporation did not 

employ either Acharya (who was employed by MGR) or van Duuren (who 

was employed by Microsoft NV), Acharya suggested below that Microsoft

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