71420-1

## No. 71420-1-1

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(King County Superior Court No. 13-2-25228-7 SEA)

### MICROSOFT CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

## BELLA ACHARYA,

Respondent.

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

One Union Square 600 University St., 27th Fl. Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC Jerry R. McNaul, WSBA No. 1306 Avi J. Lipman, WSBA No. 37661

Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

The Washington Supreme Court has held that decisions on the enforceability of forum selection clauses are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Dix v. ICT Group, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 833, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). Microsoft Corp. does not argue otherwise. The same standard of review applies to a motion for dismissal based on *forum non conveniens*. *Lisby v. PACCAR, Inc.*, 178 Wn. App. 516, 521, 316 P.3d 1097 (2013); *see also Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno*, 454 U.S. 235, 257, 102 S. Ct. 252, 70 L. Ed. 2d 419 (1981) ("The forum non conveniens determination is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court. It may be reversed only when there has been a clear abuse of discretion.").

"A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Hundtofte v. Encarnacion*, 330 P.3d 168, 172 (Wash. 2014). "A decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

"Dismissal is an extraordinary remedy, one to which a trial court should turn *only as a last resort.*" *City of Seattle v. Holifield*, 170 Wn.2d 230, 237, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010) (quoting *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wn.2d 1, 12, 65 P.3d 657 (2003)) (emphasis original). Here, the trial court correctly exercised its discretion by refusing to dismiss Ms. Acharya's case.

# B. The Forum Selection and Choice of Law Clauses Do Not Apply to Ms. Acharya's Claims Against Microsoft Corp.

As a threshold matter, Ms. Acharya's claims are against Microsoft Corp., not its European subsidiary MGR. Yet the forum selection and choice of law clauses Microsoft Corp. seeks to enforce are contained in Ms. Acharya's contract with MGR, and not in any agreement she had with Microsoft Corp. For that reason alone, the trial court properly exercised its discretion by refusing to impose on Ms. Acharya the burden of prosecuting her claims in Switzerland.

Microsoft Corp. was clearly Ms. Acharya's exclusive or joint employer while she was temporarily assigned to London, notwithstanding her purported "resignation" and subsequent "hiring" by MGR. *See, e.g., Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 332 P.3d 415, 421 (Wash. 2014) (joint employment relationship analyzed under the "economic reality" test, which takes into consideration any factors the court deems "relevant to its assessment of the economic realities"); *c.f., Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 35, 72, 244 P.3d 32 (2010), *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) ("whether a defendant is a plaintiffs' joint employer is a mixed question of law and fact and is properly a question for the jury") (citing *Ling Nan Zheng v. Liberty Apparel Co., Inc.*, 617 F.3d 182, 185–86 (2d Cir. 2010)). For example, Microsoft Corp. employees based in Redmond facilitated her transition to Europe, managed and controlled her group, supervised and controlled her direct manager, Mr. van Duüren, and handled every aspect of her complaints regarding discrimination and retaliation. *See* CP 283-291. Microsoft Corp. identified Ms. Acharya as its Advertising Business Group International Sales Manager "*based* out of London." CP 361-62 (emphasis added). Microsoft Corp. HR promoted the idea of assigning Ms. Acharya to London in order to "help accelerate *our* ability to build the E&D Ad business in Europe." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Microsoft Corp. policies governed Ms. Acharya's employment while in London, her complaints were assessed under American "state and federal law," and the address of her "employer" was represented to the IRS as Redmond, Washington. As to MGR, Ms. Acharya never had any dealings with its HR Department (if it even exists), was never managed by anyone employed by it, never visited its Swiss "headquarters" for any purpose, and did not have access to its employment policies (if they even exist). Indeed, there is no evidence that Ms. Acharya dealt with anyone from MGR for any purpose during her assignment to London. Microsoft Corp., by comparison, consistently continued to manage, control, and evaluate her activities.

,

Microsoft Corp. argues in its opening brief, without citing to any authority, that "even if some of Acharya's claims were against Microsoft Corporation, they would still 'arise[e] under, out of, or in relation to' her MGR employment," and therefore be subject to the forum selection clause. First, *all* of Ms. Acharya's claims are against Microsoft Corp. Second, Microsoft Corp. cannot rely in its motion to dismiss on purportedly restrictive covenants set forth in Ms. Acharya's contract with another company, to which it was not a party.

## C. The Trial Court Appropriately Refused to Dismiss Ms. Acharya's Claims Based on Unconscionable Forum Selection and Choice of Law Clauses.

Denial of Microsoft Corp.'s motion to dismiss was also proper

because the forum selection and choice of law clauses were each

procedurally and substantively unconscionable, and thus unenforceable.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Microsoft Corp. makes the curious argument that Ms. Acharya did not argue unconscionability to the proceedings below. In fact, she raised the argument repeatedly in her opposition to Microsoft Corp.'s motion to dismiss. See CP 258, n.8; CP 274, n.34; CP 276, n.39. She did so again (repeatedly) in her answer to Microsoft Corp.'s petition for discretionary review. *See* Resp. Ans. to Pet'r Mtn for Disc. Rev. 2-3, 3 n.7, 12 n.21, 18, 20 n.45.

# 1. The forum selection clause at issue is void as substantively unconscionable.

#### a. Substantive unconscionability standard

"Substantive unconscionability involves those cases where a clause or term in the contract is one-sided or overly harsh." *McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 396, 191 P.3d 845 (2008) (choice of law and dispute resolution clauses of contract found unenforceable on the grounds of substantive unconscionability).

In Washington, a forum selection clause is substantively unconscionable if it leaves the plaintiff "with no feasible avenue for seeking relief" under a statutory scheme that safeguards a "strong public policy of the forum in which suit is brought, whether declared by statute or by judicial decision." *Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 836-41, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007) (finding forum selection clause substantively unconscionable on public policy grounds because it left the plaintiff with no recourse under Washington's Consumer Protection Act); *see also Walters v. A.A.A. Waterproofing, Inc.*, 151 Wn. App. 316, 321, 211 P.3d 454 (2009) (forum selection clause in arbitration agreement, which would have required a Washington resident to arbitrate in his employer's principal place of business in Denver, *Colorado*, voided as substantively unconscionable because it "effectively undermine[d] an employee's ability to vindicate his statutory rights" under Washington law); *Gandee v. LDL Freedom Enterprises, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 598, 605-06, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013) (forum selection clause in arbitration agreement, which would have required a Washington resident to arbitrate in the defendant's principal place of business in Orange County, *California*, voided as substantively unconscionable because it imposed prohibitive costs on the plaintiff).

#### b. The unconscionable burden on Ms. Acharya

In this instance, enforcing the forum selection clause in Ms. Acharya's contract with MGR would require an underemployed mother residing in Kirkland to prosecute her claims against Microsoft Corp. in Switzerland—a country where she never lived, worked, or visited for business, to which she has no ties, and to which it would be cost prohibitive for her to travel. CP 291-92.<sup>6</sup> This would impose a burden on Ms. Acharya that exceeds by a wide margin the burdens found substantively unconscionable by this Court in *Walters*, 151 Wn. App. 316, 321, 211 P. 3d 454 (2009) (venue in Colorado) and our Supreme Court, sitting *en banc*, in *Gandee*, 176 Wn. 2d 598, 603, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ms. Acharya is financially and otherwise unable to hire counsel in Switzerland and return there to pursue her claims against Microsoft Corp. (which, not surprisingly, has stipulated to jurisdiction in Switzerland). CP 291-92.

(venue in California). For that reason alone, the trial court's denial of Microsoft Corp.'s motion to dismiss should be affirmed.

Microsoft Corp. has taken the position that there is nothing "harsh" about forcing its employees to litigate claims against it in Switzerland. Br. of Pet'r 19. This cannot be squared with reality or the law. Microsoft Corp. is one the largest companies in the world, with tens of thousands of employees and billions of dollars in assets. CP 345-56. Ms. Acharya is a single individual who, after being unlawfully terminated, has continuously struggled to make a living. CP 291-92. For example, between September 2012 (when she was terminated by Microsoft Corp.) and November 2013, her total income was \$28,580 (gross before taxes, including unemployment benefits). CP 291.<sup>7</sup> Forcing her to litigate in Switzerland because of boilerplate language in a contract with a Microsoft subsidiary—with which she had no dealings, to which she did not report, and whose employment policies (if they exist) she was prevented from accessing—would be unconscionable.

Switzerland provides a "gravely inconvenient" forum that would deprive Ms. Acharya of a meaningful day in court. *See Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ms. Acharya was the primary wage-earner in her marriage. CP 291-92. Her husband was unemployed while she worked from London, and was unable to secure full-time work upon their return to Washington. CP 291-92. The financial disparity between the parties is enormous. CP 345-356 (Microsoft revenue for the quarter ending on September 30, 2013 was \$28.53 billion).

835 (*citing Voicelink Data Servs. Inc. v. Datapulse, Inc.*, 86 Wn. App.
613, 937 P.2d 1158 (1997)). In these circumstances, the forum selection clause is therefore unenforceable in Washington. *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 835.

,

Additionally, it "shocks the conscience" that Microsoft Corp. would require a Washington employee to relinquish the robust civil rights afforded to her under the WLAD and force her to litigate disputes half way around the world, simply because the company's business interests are better served by having the employee temporarily relocate abroad. *See Gandee*, 176 Wn.2d 598, 603, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013).

#### c. Washington's fundamental policy interest

In Washington, "a forum selection clause is invalid if it "violates fundamental public policy of the State of Washington and Washington's interest in the determination of the issue materially outweighs the chosen state's interest." *W. Consultants, Inc. v. Davis*, 177 Wn. App. 33, 41, 310 P.3d 824 (2013) (*quoting Saleemi v. Doctor's Assocs., Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368, 384, 292 P.3d 108 (2013)) (internal quotations omitted).

Enforcement of the forum selection clause here would contravene Washington State public policy of the "highest priority"—embodied in the WLAD—as well as in the Washington Constitution (including right to trial by jury, and the Equal Rights Amendment to the Washington Constitution). *See, e.g., Marquis v. City of Spokane,* 130 Wn.2d 97, 109, 922 P.2d 43 (1996); Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n Mach. & Aero. Workers Dist. No. 160, 151 Wn.2d 203, 212, 87 P.3d 757 (2004).

Ms. Acharya has asserted claims against Microsoft to enforce her statutory civil rights claims under the WLAD, a civil rights statute patterned on Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e, *et seq.* ("Title VII"). The WLAD "contains a sweeping policy statement strongly condemning many forms of discrimination." *Allison v. Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle*, 118 Wn.2d 79, 86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991). Washington courts uniformly hold that the WLAD is to be given an especially "liberal" construction (even broader than Title VII in some respects), in order to effectuate its "broad" and "highest priority" public policy purposes. *See, e.g., Marquis*, 130 Wn.2d at 109; *Blaney*, 151 Wn.2d at 212.

Moreover, the Washington Supreme Court routinely enforces the WLAD extra-territorially to protect employees working outside this state for Washington employers. *See Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 93, 98-99, 864 P.2d 937 (1994) (citing WASH. CONST. art. 4, § 6; and *Orwick v. Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 251, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)); *c.f., Parry v. Outback Steakhouse of Florida, Inc.*, No. 8:06-CV-00804-T-17, 2006 WL 2919018, at \*4 (M.D. Fla. October 11, 2006) (applying Florida Civil Rights Act—also mirroring Title VII—and Florida venue, to claims of Florida citizen who worked abroad for Outback Steakhouse of Florida's foreign subsidiary in Cayman Islands).

In *Burnside*, the Court emphasized that the WLAD applies to Washington employers and their employees working outside of Washington because our State Constitution confers on the Superior Courts of Washington "broad original jurisdiction"; "[e]xceptions to that jurisdictional grant are narrowly construed"; and "limiting the statute's application to Washington inhabitants would effectively allow Washington employers to discriminate freely against non-Washington inhabitants, thus undermining the fundamental purpose of the act, deterring discrimination." 123 Wn.2d at 98-99 (citing WASH. CONST. art. 4, § 6; and *Orwick*, 103 Wn.2d at 251).

Other courts have likewise refused to enforce employer-drafted forum selection/choice of law clauses against plaintiffs asserting claims under Title VII and analogous state civil rights laws (like the WLAD), because doing so would contravene the important public policy interests reflected in these statutes—including reducing obstacles for aggrieved parties seeking to enforce their civil rights against parties possessing substantially greater resources. *See, e.g., Peterson v. Nat'l Sec. Tech. LLC*, No. 12–CV–5025, 2012 WL 3264952, at \*6 (E.D. Wash. Aug. 9. 2012) (denying defendant's motion to change venue, due to Washington State's

substantial interest in having WLAD claims adjudicated within Washington) (quoting Allison, 118 Wn.2d at 86); see also, e.g., Red Bull Assocs. v. Best Western Int'l, 862 F.2d 963, 967 (2d Cir. 1988) (emphasizing that "[w]hile individuals are free to regulate their purely private disputes by means of contractual choice of forum, we cannot adopt a per se rule that gives these private arrangements dispositive effect where the civil rights laws are concerned."); Bruce v. City of Gainesville, 177 F.3d 949, 951 (11th Cir. 1999) ("[i]n Title VII cases as well as cases under the ADA, the enforcement of civil rights statutes by plaintiffs as private attorneys general is an important part of the underlying policy behind the law. Such a policy ensures an incentive for 'impecunious' plaintiffs who can ill afford to litigate their claims against defendants with more resources."); Thomas v. Rehabilitation Services of Columbia, Inc., 45 F. Supp. 2d 1375, 1379 (M.D. Ga. 1999) (liberal or broad venue provisions under Title VII render unenforceable any private agreement limiting a plaintiff's choice of forum for bringing a Title VII suit in contravention of the statute); Smith v. Kyphon, Inc. 578 F. Supp. 2d 954, 961 (M.D. Tenn. 2008) (same).

Microsoft Corp. argues that "Washington has no interest in applying its law to employment claims made by an employee of a Swiss company for events occurring in Europe." Br. of Pet'r 24. But when that

- 24 -

employee is jointly or exclusively employed by a Washington corporation, resides in Washington, and suffers discrimination and retaliation both abroad and at the hands of personnel based in Washington, then Washington's interest in the matter cannot seriously be contested.

# 2. The choice of law clause at issue is void as substantively unconscionable.

Where a contract's choice of law "blatantly and excessively favors the employer in that it allows the employer alone access to a significant legal recourse," it is void as substantively unconscionable. *Zuver v. Airtouch Commc'ns, Inc.*, 153 Wn.2d 293, 318, 103 P.3d 753 (2004).

Here, Ms. Acharya's case cannot and will not proceed in Switzerland, rendering dismissal of her claims in Washington improper. As an initial matter, she would be deprived of the assistance of counsel because, as "a general rule, Swiss law does not allow lawyers to take cases on a contingency-fee basis," which is the only way Ms. Acharya, like most WLAD claimants, can afford counsel. CP 404 (contingency-fee arrangement are "very rare" in Switzerland). Microsoft Corp. argues otherwise, but its expert on Swiss law fails to mention that only Swiss citizens are entitled, in certain instances, to the appointment of counsel in civil cases at public expense. *See* Francis William O'Brien, *Why Not*  Appointed Counsel in Civil Cases? The Swiss Approach, 28 OHIO ST. L.J. 1 (1967) (citing Judgment of Oct. 8, 1937, BGE 63 I 209 (Switz.))

.

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